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DIRECTORS REPORT 2021 – ABAX Group AS
For the period 01/01/2021 – 31/12/2021 
THE NATURE OF THE BUSINESS AND LOCALIZATION 
Founded in 2003, ABAX Group AS (“ABAX” or the “Company”) is a leading telematics solution 
provider in the Nordic countries developing and delivering sophisticated telematics and “Internet 
of Things” solutions and services. Headquartered in Norway, the Company has established 
operations across the Nordic region as well as in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Poland, 
Belgium and the USA. 

The ABAX Group operates from the headquarter in Larvik, Norway. The visiting address is 
Hammergata 20, 3264 Larvik. In addition, the Group has sales offices and some back-office 
functions in Stavanger, Västerås, Copenhagen, Vantaa, Oulu, Amsterdam, Peterborough, Gdynja, 
Berlin, Stockholm, Utah, and Diegem. 

The CEO of ABAX Group AS is Morten Strand 

OPERATIONS IN 2021 

A year of growth and solid financial and operational performance 

2021 continued to be a challenging year for most businesses with the Covid-19 pandemic changing 
markets and business outlook sometimes overnight. ABAX and its attractive business model 
continued to be very resilient across all our geographies throughout the year, including the new 
territories acquired during 2020.  

In July, we completed the acquisition of the subscription base of Helpten OY in Finland, adding 
another 6,000 subscriptions to our base which, combined with Abax Finland, firmly cements our 
position as a market leader in Finland, and in the wider Nordics.  

Throughout the year, we made progress in the constant evolution of our technology platform into 
a leading IoT network, resulting in new partnerships as well as new and groundbreaking 
innovations in the IoT marketspace. Our Zego partnership, which commenced in October 2020, 
continues to grow month over month, and by the end of 2021 we had connected more than 
15,000 vehicles to data-enabled pay-as-you-go insurance. This important growth engine will lead 
us into more markets in the coming years, as we expand beyond the UK. Following the successful 
launch of our flagship product, ABAX Access, an innovative integrated IoT solution that enables 
customers to track and manage vehicles, machines and tools in one single solution. We 
commenced a mass automated program of upgrading our customer base to the new product 
during December and have experienced strong support from our customers for ABAX Access.  

Today, ABAX is an innovative, market oriented IoT technology company in a market that 
increasingly requires easy-to-use IoT solutions to comply with regulations and to satisfy the 
digitalization demands of customers.  
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Our well established ESG work and dedication is a point of pride for the company. Our solutions 
support our customers to consume less resources, reduce their carbon footprint, and help them 
comply with legislations such as emission reports based on ABAX’ advanced data collection and 
analytics of vehicle and machine utilisation. Our latest ESG report can be found at 
https://static.abax.com/sites/default/files/2022-
03/ABAX%20Sustainability%20Report%202021_0.pdf. 

As the Group operates in several local technological markets, the most important risk factors for 
the Group are changes in technology and the competitive landscape. These risk factors are 
monitored and addressed by leaders at all levels in the organization. 

ABAX’ adjusted Group EBITDA increased by 57% in the financial period from 133.3 M NOK in 2020 
to 209.2 M NOK in 2021 (excluding the W&I arbitration award 322 M NOK).  

The Group’s reported operating profit after depreciation and amortization was 194 M NOK (-115.4 
M NOK 2020) and profit before tax was 124.8 M NOK (-181.1 M NOK 2020).  

The development teams in ABAX AS continued to grow during 2021 to further exploit a wide range 
of market opportunities with the objective of automating and simplifying solutions for the Group´s 
customer segments. ABAX endeavors to ensure that their customers receive the highest quality 
products and services. The Group therefore continuously invests in R&D resources, with a spend 
of 62.9 M NOK on R&D projects in 2021. This has resulted in numerous new products and services, 
both for customers and for automating internal operations. In 2021 the Group continued to make 
investments to digitize its processes to support future growth in the geographical footprint and 
increased scope of the ABAX service offering. This includes upgrades of the IT Infrastructure, the 
quality management system, and the upgraded ERP system. 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 

In the coming years, the Board expects the Group to accelerate its growth in its existing markets, 
as well as further developing the products and services to strengthen the Group's market position. 
Selected add-on acquisitions are considered an attractive opportunity to further accelerate this 
growth. 

ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Profit and loss 

Full year, adjusted EBITDA (excluding the W&I arbitration award 322 M NOK) was 209.2 M NOK, 
compared to 133.3 M NOK in the period ending on December 31, 2020. This represents an 
adjusted EBITDA growth of 57%. 

https://static.abax.com/sites/default/files/2022-03/ABAX%20Sustainability%20Report%202021_0.pdf
https://static.abax.com/sites/default/files/2022-03/ABAX%20Sustainability%20Report%202021_0.pdf
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The Group revenue for 2021 was at 963.5 M NOK (of which sales in ABAX AS amounted for 398 M 
NOK). Operating Group profit for 2021 was at 194 M NOK. Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment accounted for 337.3 M NOK. 

Balance Sheet and Liquidity 

In FY2021, the Group generated 253.5 M NOK of cash compared to 97.4 M NOK in 2020. 

Cashflow from operating activities amounted to 464 M NOK at the 31 December 2021, compared 
to 156.6 M NOK at 31 December 2020. Cashflow from operating activities is derived from the 
operating result for the year, adjusted for various items as detailed in the cashflow, for both 
operational expenses and gains, and working capital adjustments.   

The Group's cash liquidity was 397.5 M NOK per 31 December 2021. Liquidity forecasts ahead are 
satisfactory. The Group's ability to finance its investments is good. The Group currently has 
available additional facilities of 39 M NOK, should they be required. 

In 2021, the Group invested substantial amounts in research and development, of which 62.9 M 
NOK was capitalized internal hours on the balance sheet.  

The Group's long-term debt amounted to 1 339 M NOK as at 31 December 2021. 

Total asset value at the end of 2021 was 3 303 M NOK for the Group. The equity in the Group at 
end of 2021 was 1 506.2 M NOK (46 % equity ratio). 

ABAX GROUP AS (NGAAP) 

Financial Review 

ABAX Group AS (the Company) prepares its financial statements according to NGAAP. In 2021, 
ABAX Group AS reported a profit before tax of 296.8 M NOK.  

Total equity for the parent Company was 2 109.6 M NOK at 31 December 2021 compared to 1 
823.1 M NOK at 31 December 2020. 

Organisation  

ABAX Group AS had no employees at the end of 2021. 

RISK FACTORS 

Financial risk 

The Group is exposed to financial risk in various areas, including currency risk, more specifically in 
SEK, Euro, DKK and British pounds. A substantial proportion of ABAX' revenues are in foreign 



10 

currencies. The Group has not made contractual arrangements to reduce or negate the risk of 
exchange rate fluctuations, a risk that may have an impact on its operations in the market. 

The risk of FX fluctuations with the British pound continue. The Group continues to monitor the 
British Pound post Brexit and its impact on UK operations, and will continue to safeguard its 
interests in its UK operations.  

Since Abax Group AS in June 2020 issued a senior secured bond for a total amount of 1,000 MNOK, 
the company is exposed to interest rate trends. The bond terms give the investors a yield of NIBOR 
3M + 6.15%. In order to reduce that exposure Abax Group AS has entered into an Interest Rate 
Hedge Transaction with SEB. 

Credit risk 

The risk of bad debts is assessed on an on-going basis, and all customers in all countries are 
reviewed, to ensure credit terms are not exceeded beyond acceptable practice, as a result this 
risk has been assessed as being moderate. 

There are no netting agreements that may reduce the overall credit risk for the Group. 

Liquidity risk 

The liquidity going forward is assessed as good. The majority of the Group's revenue is coming 
from subscriptions with standard contract length of three years. Combined with a low customer 
churn, it provides a high degree of accuracy in revenue forecasting and liquidity forecasting. 

GOING CONCERN 

The Board of Directors confirms that the Financial Statements have been prepared under the 
assumption that the Group is a going concern and that this assumption was realistic at the date 
of the accounts. This assumption is based on profit forecasts for the year 2022 plus ABAX' long-
term strategic plans. We can therefore conclude that ABAX is in a healthy financial position. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the company’s risk management and internal control 
systems are adequate in relation to the regulations governing the business. The company’s 
systems and procedures for risk management and internal control are intended to ensure efficient 
operations, timely and correct financial reporting, as well as compliance with the legislation and 
regulations to which the company is subject. The Board and the Audit Committee performs an 
annual review of the company’s risk management/corporate governance.  



11 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND PERSONNEL 

In 2021 sick leaves accounted for just below 3.7 % of total working hours at ABAX Group and 3.9 
% for ABAX AS. This is significantly less than the national average in Norway of 6.75 % (Q4 2021). 
ABAX has therefore reaped the benefits of introducing and maintaining on-going measures to 
reduce absenteeism. ABAX will continue to work to reduce the number of sick days. Examples of 
some of those measures include regular medical check for all employees, exercise during work 
hours and task sharing and swapping. 

To date no accidents have occurred that have caused personal injury or damage to property. 

The working environment is considered good and healthy, and there are ongoing measures to 
improve it even further. 

ABAX' various working environment committees have held regular meetings during the period. 

EQUALITY POLICY 

ABAX is an equal opportunity employer, and the Group seeks to allow for the best possible ways 
to accommodate for different life situations and individual needs among its employees. ABAX' 
internal policies ensures that there is no gender discrimination in matters such as salary, 
promotion and recruitment. Information about our work and implemented measures related to 
equality can be found in the “ABAX Sustainability Report 2021” available on the company’s 
webpages. In this report, topics such as gender pay gap analysis, diversity of management and 
inclusion are presented.    

Out of ABAX' 344 employees December 2021, 94 employees are females. 25% of all leadership 
positions are filled by females.    

The Group employs a climate survey to capture and record employee feedback with regards to 
specific subjects, for instance promotion, training and internal affairs. 

Working hours in ABAX are dependent on employment position and are independent of gender. 

ABAX plans to continue with the equality measures as detailed above.  

DISCRIMINATION 

The purpose of the Discrimination Act is to promote equality, ensure equal opportunities and 
rights and prevent discrimination based on ethnicity, national origin, race, color, language, sexual 
orientation, religion and belief. ABAX is working actively, purposefully and systematically to 
promote equal opportunity ethics within our business. The activities include recruitment, pay and 
working conditions, promotion, development and protection against harassment. 

ABAX is committed to meeting its obligations under the law by providing a workplace that insures 
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full inclusion and participation of staff as well as job applicants with disabilities. 

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT 

ABAX emphasizes environmental and resource efficiency throughout its value chain. ABAX' 
products contain no components or substances in quantities that are classified as environmentally 
hazardous. The products have no significant environmental impact in use. Decommissioned units 
are collected and recycled through an approved recycling company. 

An external supplier certified in ISO 14001 manufactures the hardware products used by the 
Group. ABAX also makes sure that its suppliers are environmentally accredited. 

The Group is located in a modern, environmentally friendly building, and office operations have 
no greater environmental impact than what is considered normal for typical office activities. The 
management works diligently to reduce CO2 emissions from transport associated with products 
and employees. ABAX' environmental management system is certified according to ISO 14001. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING 

ABAX business is not regulated by licenses or restrictions. 

DIRECTORS INSURANCE 

ABAX has purchased insurance for the Board of directors and the general manager with QBE 
Europe SA/NV. The insurance covers all directors and officers of the Group, and policy is governed 
by and interpreted by the laws of Norway. 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company performed a review of events subsequent to the balance sheet date through the 
date the financial statements were issued and determined that there were no such events 
requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Larvik, April 28th, 2022 

Andrea Davis 
Chairman 

Yanlin Li 
Board member 

Morten Strand 
Board member/CEO 

Juergen Heilmann 
Board member 

Bjørn Erik B. Helgeland 
Board member 



ABAX Group AS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

Amounts in NOK thousand Note

01.01.21-
31.12.21

01.01.20-
31.12.20

Operational Revenue 641 555   512 061   

One-time insurance payment 321 981   -   

Total Revenue 4 963 536   512 061   

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of hardware and services 73 891   52 184   

Employee benefit expenses 5,26 231 036   214 801   

Other operating expenses 6 123 064   106 242   

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 23 4 280   5 505   

Depreciation 9 56 496   38 807   

Amortisation 10 280 788   209 889   

OPERATING PROFIT(+)/LOSS(-) 193 981   (115 367)  

FINANCIAL ITEMS

Finance income 7 18 061   13 836   

Finance expenses 7 (87 134)  (79 603)  

TOTAL NET FINANCIAL ITEMS (69 073)  (65 767)  

PROFIT(+)/LOSS(-) BEFORE TAX 124 908   (181 135)  

Income tax income 8 34 588   38 835   

PROFIT(+)/LOSS(-) FOR THE PERIOD 159 496   (142 300)  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

01.01.21-
31.12.21

01.01.20-
31.12.20

PROFIT(+)/LOSS(-) FOR THE PERIOD 159 496   (142 300)  

ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS

TOTAL ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS

Foreign currency translation differences (45 552)  (19 462)  

TOTAL ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS (45 552)  (19 462)  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE PERIOD 113 944   (161 762)  
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ABAX Group AS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Amounts in NOK thousand Note 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 9,2 207 967   186 903   

Intangible assets and goodwill 10,11 2 424 890   2 652 924   

Deferred tax assets 8 32 568   34 000   

Other investments, including derivatives 23 19 911   500   

Non-current interest-bearing receivables 12 4 730   6 568   

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2 690 066   2 880 894   

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 13 26 613   10 846   

Current tax assets 8 4 407   5 800   

Trade and other receivables 14 167 590   133 084   

Contract assets 4 17 245   54 216   

Cash and cash equivalents 16 397 489   143 955   

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 613 344   347 900   

TOTAL ASSETS 3 303 410   3 228 794   

EQUITY

Share capital 17 42 959   42 959   

Share premium 17 1 817 821   1 817 821   

Retained earnings 17 (284 917)  (445 161)  

Other reserves 17 (69 688)  (24 136)  

TOTAL EQUITY 1 506 174   1 391 483   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 19 210 097   210 704   

Contract liabilities 4 129 650   120 386   

Current tax liabilities 8 12 773   2 989   

Loans and borrowings 18 105 762   113 558   

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 458 282   447 637   

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings 18 1 081 633   1 085 499   

Deferred tax liabilities 8 236 323   285 808   

Non-current derivatives 23 - 1 086  

Other non-current liablitities, not interest bearing 10 20 997   17 282  

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 1 338 954   1 389 674   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1 797 236   1 837 312   

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 3 303 410   3 228 794   

Andrea Davis Morten Strand Yanlin Li

Chairman of the Board Board member/CEO Board member

Bjørn Erik Brandsæter Helgeland Jürgen Heilman

Board member Board member

Larvik, 28 April 2022
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ABAX Group AS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
PROFIT(+)/LOSS(-) FOR THE PERIOD 159 496       (142 300)      
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation 56 496         38 807         
- Amortisation 280 788       209 889       
- Net finance costs 69 073         65 767         
- Tax expense (34 588)        (38 835)        
Cash flow before changes in working capital, interest and tax 531 265 133 328
Changes in:
- Inventories (14 979)        6 450           
- Trade and other receivables (33 900)        33 028         
- Trade and other payables 6 700           (37 168)        
- Contract assets/liabilities 46 235         68 745         
- Other movements (3 724)          6 452           
Cash flow before interest and tax 531 597       210 836       

Interest paid (74 277)        (50 806)        
Income taxes paid 6 728           (3 460)          
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 464 048       156 570       

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Aquisition of property plant and equipment, and intangible assets (145 398)      (105 657)      
Aquisition of RAM (37 741)        
Aquisition of Automile (523 717)      
Aquisition of Helpten (16 416)        
Shares in Reen (5 427)          
Cash from acquisition RAM 1 107           
Cash from acquisition Automile 72 103         
Deposit refund claim 1 600           
Earn-out RAM (10 514)        
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (176 155)      (593 905)      

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of share capital 151 350       
Proceeds from loans from group companies (1 600)          300
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 1 046 083    
Repayment of borrowings (625 328)      
Payment of lease liabilities (32 758)        (28 927)        
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (34 358)        543 478       

NET INCREASE (+)/DECRESE (-) IN CASH AND CASH-EQUIVALENTS 253 535       106 144       
Cash and cash-equivalents beginning of period 143 954       46 560         
Currency effect of cash and cash equivalents (8 749)          
CASH AND CASH-EQUIVALENTS END OF PERIOD 397 489       143 954       
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ABAX Group AS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year 2020

Amounts in NOK thousand Share capital Share premium
Total paid-in 

capital
Retained 
earnings

Translation 
reserve Total equity

14 320                1 417 506           1 431 826           (304 379)             (4 674)                 1 122 773           

Total comprehensive income for the period 01.01.20 - 31.12.20

Loss for the period (142 300)             (142 300)             

Other comprehensive income for the period (19 462)               (19 462)               

(142 300)             (19 462)               (161 762)             

Transactions with owners of the Company

Capital increase debt conversion 14 320                263 284              277 604              277 604              

Capital increase cash contribution 14 320                137 031              151 351              151 351              

Group contribution Abax Midco (26)                      (26)                      

Group contribution  Abax Invest -                      1 543                  1 543                  

28 639                400 315              428 954              1 517                  -                      430 471              

Balance as of 31 December 2020 42 959                1 817 821           1 860 780           (445 161)             (24 136)               1 391 483           

Year 2021

Amounts in NOK thousand Share capital Share premium
Total paid-in 

capital
Retained 
earnings

Translation 
reserve Total equity

42 959                1 817 821           1 860 780           (445 161)             (24 136)               1 391 483           

Total comprehensive income for the period 01.01.21 - 31.12.21

Loss for the period 159 496              159 496              

Changes to previous years 749                     749                     

Other comprehensive income for the period (45 552)               (45 552)               

160 245              (45 552)               114 693              

Transactions with owners of the Company

Capital increase debt conversion -                      

Capital increase cash contribution -                      

Group contribution Abax Midco -                      

Group contribution  Abax Invest -                      -                      

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Balance as of 30 September 2021 42 959                1 817 821           1 860 780           (284 917)             (69 688)               1 506 174           

The notes on page 18 to 38 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Attributable to shareholders of ABAX Group AS

Ingoing balance 1 January 2020

Attributable to shareholders of ABAX Group AS 

Ingoing balance 1 January 2021
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Notes to the financial statements

Note 1 General information

Note 2 Significant accounting policies

ABAX Group AS ("the Company") and its subsidiaries (together "the Group") has its headquarters and registered office 
at Hammergata 24, 3264 Larvik, Norway.  

The Group's operations are focused on vehicle, equipment management solutions through its main products ABAX 
Equipment Control and ABAX Trip log.

The Group has operations in the Nordics, UK, Netherlands, Belgium, US and Poland. 

The financial statements have been prepared by the Management Board and authorised for issue on  21. April 2022. 
The financial statements will be submitted for approval at the General Meeting on 28 April 2022.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, with certain exceptions as detailed in the accounting 
policies below.  The policies described have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union ("IFRS").

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian kroner (NOK), which is also the functional currency 
of the parent company. 

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. As a result of rounding 
differences, numbers or percentages may not add up to the total.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled either 
directly or indirectly by the company.

A subsidiary is consolidated as of the date at which control is acquired. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with uniform accounting principles for similar 
transactions for the companies included in the consolidated accounts, and are prepared based on the same accounting 
period as used for the parent company. 

All intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the respective functional currency of group entities using the 
exchange rate prevailing on the dates of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated by using the 
exchange rate at the reporting date.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
measured at historical cost are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  Non-monetary assets 
and liabilities measured at fair value denominated in foreign currency are translated to the exchange rate at the time fair 
value was determined.  The effects of changes in exchange rate are generally recognized in profit and loss as 'Other 
financial items', except for gains and losses that arise from intercompany receivables that form part of net investment in 
subsidiaries which are recognised in 'Other comprehensive income'. No intercompany receivables are considered as 
part of net investment as of 31 December 2021.
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Foreign operations

Items included in the financial statements of each group entity are measured using the entity's functional currency, 
being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.  The financial position and 
results of group entities with a non-NOK functional currency are translated to the Group's presentation currency of 
NOK as follows:

- Assets and liabilities, including any goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into 
NOK at the exchange rates at the reporting date; and 
- Results are translated based on the average exchange rate on a monthly basis.

- Foreign exchange differences arising from this translation are recognised in other comprehensive income, and 
presented as a separate component in equity.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are included in other 
comprehensive income as a translation reserve. These translation differences are reclassified to the income 
statement upon disposal or liquidation of the related operations. No intercompany receivables are considered as part 
of net investment as of 31 December 2021.

Exchange differences arising from non-current monetary receivable or payable by a foreign operation where 
settlement is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, forms part of the net investment in that entity and are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.  These translation differences are reclassified to the statement of profit or 
loss when settled.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group.  
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets 
acquired.  

If the acquisition cost exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired, goodwill arises.  Goodwill is allocated to the 
cash generating unit ("CGU") or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies associated with the 
acquisition.

The estimation of fair values and goodwill may be adjusted up to 12 months after the acquisition date if new 
information emerges regarding the conditions at the time of the acquisition and which, had they been known, would 
have affected the estimates of fair values and goodwill.

Acquisition-related costs associated with business combinations are expensed as incurred, except if related to the 
issue of debt or equity securities.

Fair value measurement

The fair values of non-financial assets and liabilities may be required to be determined e.g. when the Group acquires 
a business or when the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU for impairment testing purposes is determined using 
the fair value less cost of disposal methodology.  Fair value is the price that an asset or liability would be transferred 
at in an orderly transaction between market participants.  

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible.  
Where there is no quoted price for an asset or liability in an active market, fair value is determined using valuation 
techniques which include discounted cash flow analysis.  

Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques:

Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data

Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or service 
to a customer. 

The group principally generates revenue from providing cloud based vehicle-tracking systems for vans, digital 
mileage claim for cars and protection technology for equipment and tools. In order to provide the services, the 
customer needs a hardware device. The device is either leased to the customer or sold. 
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ABAX Access
The main revenue stream is a subscription based, recurring revenue from software as a service (SaaS). The 
deliverable consists of a hardware component and the SaaS service. The hardware component is either leased or 
sold to the customer.  The hardware component is not a distinct as the customer cannot benefit from this on its own. 
The delivery is assessed to being a single performance obligation and the revenue is recognised on a straight line 
bases over the contract period. 

The transaction price is identified in the contract and is recognised over the contract period in accordance with the 
deliveries of the SaaS service. The typical length of a service contract is 36 months. No significant financing 
component exists within the customer contracts.

In 2021 ABAX transitioned from a hardware and software provider to a Software as a Service organisation. ABAX will 
as part of its service offering retain title to its hardware, instead of selling as a stand-alone item to its customers.

Other services 
This includes other services such as consultancy and are recognised upon delivery.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
If recognised revenue exceeds amounts received or receivable from a customer, a contract asset is recognised. 
Contract liabilities primarily relate to advance consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised 
as subscription services are provided. Contract assets and contract liabilities are expected to be realised within in the 
Group’s normal operating cycle, and are classified as current within trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables respectively. Contract assets are adjusted for 
provision for impairment in accordance with the expected credit loss model. 

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount 
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 

Financial income and finance cost

The Group's finance income and finance costs include interest income, interest expense, foreign currency gains or 
losses and the net gain or loss on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss.  

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. 

Taxes

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss, or items recognised directly in 
equity or in Other Comprehensive income (OCI). 

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any 
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or 
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to 
income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future taxable 
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable 
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in 
the Group.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based weighted 
average principle. All inventories are finished goods items.
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The notes on page 5 to 30 are an integral part of these financial statements

Property plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the 
expenditure will flow to the Group. Costs that occur subsequently to the asset being put in use, such as maintenance, 
are expensed, while costs expected to provide future economic benefits by prolonging useful life of the asset, are 
capitalised. Assets that are taken out of service are expensed. 

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual 
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. 

Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:
• Fixtures and office machinery: 3-5 years;
• Leasehold improvements: 5-15 years (Remaining rental period is upper basis for useful life);

Right of Use assets recognised have the following estimated useful lives, though these are never longer than the 
estimated lease term: 
• Right to use Motor vehicles: 3-5 years.
• Right of use Fixtures and office machinery: 3-5 years;
• Right of use land and buildings: 5-15 years;

Leases (As a lessee)

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.  A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group 
assesses whether:

–– the contract involves the use of an identified asset
–– the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the period 
of use; and
–– the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in 
the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease 
incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of 
right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use 
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured when there is a 
change in future lease payments.

When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.
The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and 
borrowings’ in the statement of financial position.
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected to recognize all right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term including those leases 
of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, including IT equipment.

Intangible assets and goodwill 

Recognition and measurement 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Research and development 
Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Development expenditure is capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has 
sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, including customer relationships, patents and trademarks, that are acquired by the Group 
and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, 
is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill and 
brand name are not amortised. 

The amortisation of other intangible assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as 
follows:
• Development of telematic solutions: 3-7 years;
• Purchased customer portfolios: 10 - 15 years.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.

Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument for another entity. Financial instruments are generally recognized as soon as the group becomes 
a party to the terms of the financial instrument. 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at FVTPL, 
FVOCI and amortised cost.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the following categories: financial liabilities at FVTPL 
and other financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Financial assets
Financial assets include, in particular, cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other loans and 
receivables. Financial instrument classification is based on the business model in which the instruments are held 
as well as the structure of the contractual cash flows. 
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Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Financial assets measured at amortized cost are non-derivative financial assets with contractual payments that 
consist exclusively of payments of interest and principal on the outstanding nominal amount and are held with the 
objective of collecting the contractually agreed cash flows, such as loans and receivables, trade receivables or 
cash and cash equivalents (the “hold” business model). 

After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
less impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are impaired or 
derecognized. Interest effects from the application of the effective interest method and effects from currency 
translation are also recognized through profit or loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. They are generally due for settlement within 14 days and are therefore all classified as current. Trade 
receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain 
significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables 
with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying 
amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

The group applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets whose cash flows do not 
relate solely to payments of interest and repayments of principal on the outstanding nominal amount. Gains or 
losses on these financial assets are recognized through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities regularly give rise to a redemption obligation in cash or another financial asset. These include in 
particular bonds and other securitized liabilities, trade payables, liabilities to banks, liabilities to affiliated companies
and derivatives designated as hedges. Financial liabilities are classified into the following categories:
• Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets 
Financial assets not classified as at FVTPL are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment. The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:
default or delinquency by a debtor; 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy; 
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers; 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
The Group considers evidence of impairment for these assets at both an individual asset and a collective level. All 
individually significant assets are individually assessed for impairment. Those found not to be impaired are then 
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet individually identified. Assets that are not 
individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment. Collective assessment is carried out by grouping 
together assets with similar risk characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveries and the amount of 
loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are 
likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends. The group has identified the credit worthiness and 
segment development in which it sells its services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical 
loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.
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Note 3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

Note 3 Estimates

Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that there are 
no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off. The process of write offs is enforced 
when the debt is more than 180 days past due and at least 3 reminders are issued in addition to the debtor being 
considered insolvent by the debt collector. The debt collections agency will still have the debtor on surveillance and will, 
in case of financial improvement, enforce payment of the debt. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories and 
deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and brand name are tested at least annually for impairment. 

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which cash inflows that are largely 
independent from the cash inflows from other assets can be identified (cash generating units). Goodwill arising from a 
business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value 
in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 
more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. Long term provisions are measured at the net present value of management’s best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date.

Adoption of new and revised reporting standards and interpretations

At the date of these Consolidated financial statements, there are no standards, amendments to standards or 
interpretations of standards applicable to the Group - which have been issued but were not yet effective - which are 
expected to have significant impact on the Group. 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates (see below), that the Group has made when 
applying the accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements:

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties is included in the following notes:

Note 11 – Impairment test of intangible assets and goodwill: key assumptions underlying recoverable amounts, including 
the recoverability of development costs

Note 8 – Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which deductible temporary 
differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised
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Note 4 Revenue

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Primary geographical markets

Norway 207 119                    192 761                    

Sweden 255 376                    196 337                    

Finland 40 338                      33 535                      

Denmark 17 031                      19 519                      

UK 45 302                      32 594                      

Other 76 388                      37 314                      

Revenue 641 555                    512 061                    

Major products/service lines

Trip logs 596 646                    482 521                    

Equipment control 44 909                      29 540                      

Revenue 641 555                    512 061                    

Timing of revenue recognition

Products transferred at a point in time -                            -                            
Products and services transferred over time 641 555                    512 061                    
Revenue 641 555                    512 061                    

Revenue type

Operational revenue 641 555                    512 061                    
One-time insurance payment *) 321 981                    -                            
Total revenue 963 536                    512 061                    

On 8 April 2021, a Tribunal in an Arbitration Case administered by the Dispute Resolution Institute of the Oslo Chamber of Commerce, rendered to the 

benefit of Abax Group AS, an arbitrational award concerning a claim against the insurance provider under the insurance and indemnity policy

which Abax Group AS had taken out in connection with the Company's acquisition of Abax Holding AS in 2017. The claim related to an adjustment

in the revenues of Abax Holding for a period of time prior to completion of the acquisition.

Pursuant to the award, the Company has received payments of insurance proceeds during 2021.

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

Amounts in NOK thousand 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Receivables, which are included in "Trade and other receivables" 92 780                      61 385                      

Contract assets 17 245                      54 216                      

Contract liabilities 129 650                    120 386                    

Significant changes in the contract assets and the contract liabilities balances during the period are as follows:

Amounts in NOK thousand Contract assets Contract liabilities

Balance at 1 January 102 044                   100 024                    

Decrease due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised as revenue during the period (47 828)                    20 362                      

Balance as at 31 December 54 216                     120 386                    
1) Refer to Note 26 Business combinations

Amounts in NOK thousand Contract assets Contract liabilities

Balance at 1 January 54 216                     120 386                    

Decrease due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised as revenue during the period (36 971)                    9 264                        

Balance as at 31 December 17 245                     129 650                    

Reporting date 31 December 2020

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026-> Total

Trip logs 267 381        94 377            33 886            1 819                497                     98                             398 059                    

Equipment control 23 476          11 219            4 932              509                   217                     94                             40 446                      

Worker -                 -                  -                  -                    -                     -                            -                            

Total future revenue 290 857        105 596          38 818            2 328                714                     191                           438 505                    

Reporting date 31 December 2021

Amounts in NOK thousand 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027-> Total

Trip logs 490 699        193 810          58 197            6 765                749 471                    

Equipment control 48 157          21 221            6 617              1 265                77 260                      

Total future revenue 538 856        215 031          64 815            8 029                -                     -                            826 731                    

January-December

ABAX has business areas as operating segments. The operating segments correspond to the way in which the business areas report figures to the Group executive 
management (key decision maker). ABAX is currently reporting its figures to key decision maker as one operating segment, the telematics solutions.

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary geographical market, major products/service lines and timing of revenue recognition.

Contract assets are transferred to receivables according to invoice plan. Contract liabilities primarily relate to advance consideration received from customers, for which 
revenue is recognised as subscription services are provided.

2020

2021

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting 
date:

No consideration from contracts with customers is excluded from the amounts above. There are no capitalised costs relating fulfilling contracts as at 31 December 2021 or 
31 December 2020. Sales commission that qualifies as a cost to obtain a contract under IFRS 15 are capialised in 2021.
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Note 5 Employee benefit expenses

Amounts in NOK thousand

01.01.21
- 31.12.21

01.01.20
- 31.12.20

Salaries and holiday pay 233 418                    213 985                    
Social security tax 36 645                      28 579                      

Pension cost including social security tax 9 204                        7 610                        

Other personnel costs and benefits 7 393                        7 359                        
Total 286 660                   257 533                    

Own work capitalised (55 624)                    (42 732)                     
Total Employee benefit expenses 231 036                    214 801                    

Number of full-time equivalent in ABAX Group AS 343 303

Pension plans

Management remuneration

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Salaries and holiday pay 2 982                        2 942                        
Bonus payments -                            
Other benefits 245                           152                            
Pension cost 60                             59                              

Loans and guarantees to employees

Note 6 Other operating expenses

The operating cost is split into each main groups:

Amounts in NOK thousand 01.01.21-31.12.21 01.01.20-31.12.20

IT licences, equipment and cost 23 803                      20 528                      

Consultancy and other professional fees 46 058                      36 345                      

Travel and vehicle costs 11 525                      10 858                      

Marketing and sponsorships 26 722                      11 366                      

Acquisition-related costs1)
-                            10 420                      

Other operational cost 14 956                      16 726                      

Total operating expenses 123 064                    106 242                    

Amounts in NOK thousand 01.01.21-31.12.21 01.01.20-31.12.20

Statutory audit fee 4 868                        5 575                        

Technical assistance related to preparation of financial statements and tax papers -                            230                            

Other assurance services 228                           1 131                        

Total audit fees 5 096                        6 936                        

Note 7 Finance income and expenses

Amounts in NOK thousand 01.01.21-31.12.21 01.01.20-31.12.20

Interest income

Cash and cash equivalents 4                               133                           

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL:

Change in fair value of interest rate swap 15 069                     -                            

Other finance income

Other interest income 620                           601                           

Net foreign exchange gains (loss) 2 368                        13 102                      

Total finance income 18 060                      13 836                      

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL:

Change in fair value of interest rate swap -                            (1 952)                       

Finance cost - other

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost - interest expense (67 035)                    (50 334)                     

Other interest expenses (161)                         (194)                          

Interest on lease liabilities (6 292)                      (6 604)                       

Other finance expenses1) (13 645)                    (20 519)                     

Total finance expenses (87 134)                    (79 603)                     

1)Other financial expenses 2020 mainly relates remaining amortization expenses on the financing arrangement that was early settled in 2020.

Net finance income (expense) recognised in profit and loss (69 073)                    (65 767)                     

Audit fees and fees for audit related services incurred by the group during 2021 and 2020 are summarized in the table below. Fees include both Norwegian and foreign 
subsidiaries. Fees to auditors are reported exclusive of VAT.

Norwegian companies are required to have occupational pension schemes according to the law on compulsory occupational pension. The Group's pension agreement is a 
defined contribution plan for all employees, also including those employed outside of Norway. The pension cost of the year was NOK 9,2 million including social security tax, 
and is equal to the group’s contribution to the employee’s pension savings during the financial year. 

The Group's CEO, Morten Strand, is employed by ABAX AS, subsidiary of ABAX Group AS.  Remuneration disclosed below includes the cost charged the group for  Morten 
Strand in 2021.

The CEO is part of the standard employee pension and insurance plan applicable to all employees in the Group.
There is no established bonus-program for the CEO, with bonuses paid to management during the year being determined by the Board of Directors.
There have not been established any severance agreement with the current CEO. The current CEO has no loans from the Group.

In 2021 there was no compensation to the board members. None of the members of the Board received compensation from any other company within the Group, except for 
the employee representatives. None of the members of the Board of Directors has loans to or from the Group.

Employees were given the opportunity to receive a loan in order to invest in shares in ABAX Invest AS (ultimate norwegian parent company) at market value by the time of 
the ABAX Group AS formation in 2017. ABAX Invest AS has given the employees the opportunity to invest in previous years and some of the employees has financed the 
shares with loan. The loans are issued from the company where the employee works, and are on ordinary market terms and conditions. Outstanding debt from employees 
related to this is NOK 0,418 million at 31 December 2021. Besides this there are no other loans, prepayments, credits or guarantees from the company to board members, 
CEO or other employees within the Group.
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Note 8 Income tax

Amounts in NOK thousand 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Profit before tax 124 908                   (181 135)                  

Current taxes (11 879)                    (2 933)                       

Deferred taxes 46 467                     41 768                      

Income tax 34 588                     38 835                      

Effective tax rate

%

01.01.21-
31.12.21 % 01.01.20-31.12.20

Profit / loss (-) before tax 124 908             (181 135)                  

Income tax income / expense (-) at corporate income tax rate in Norway1)
22 % (27 521)              22 % 39 850                      

Tax effects of:

Effect of differing tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 0,6 % (744)                   0,1 % 119                           

Non-deductable expenses -40,3 % 50 461               -1,1 % (1 911)                       

Current-year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised -9,8 % 12 325               0,1 % 176                           

Changes in tax rates2)
0,0 % -                     1,0 % 1 833                        

Previous year tax adjustment -0,1 % 67                      0,0 %                  -  

Total taxes -27,7 % 34 588               21,4 % 38 835                      

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (-) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Property, plant, equipment and Intangible assets (273 561)                  (330 150)                  

Accounts receivable (13)                            (585)                          

Provisions 26 484                     29 952                      

Other differences (465)                         2 903                        

Tax losses to carry forward 63 980                     74 767                      

Disallowed internal interest expenses carried forward 10 160                     1 836                        

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) (173 415)                  (221 279)                  00

Unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carried forward and Skattefunn (30 340)                    (30 529)                     

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised (203 755)                  (251 808)                  

Change in net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (-) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Balance at 1 January (251 808)                  (265 430)                  

Balance acquired through purchase transaction1)
(28 011)                     

Recognised in profit and loss during the year 46 467                     41 544                      

Foreign currency exchange differences 1 586                        89                             

31 December (203 755)                  (251 808)                  
1) Refer to Note 26 Business combinations

Deferred taxes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Deferred tax asset 32 568                     34 000                      

Deferred tax liabilities (236 323)                  (285 808)                  

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) (203 755)                  (251 808)                  

Tax losses carried forward

Amounts in NOK thousand Norway Netherlands Denmark Sweden UK Other Total

-                  -                  -                    -                     4 417,0                     4 417                        

-                  -                  -                    -                     2 529,0                     2 529                        

-                  -                  -                    -                     -                            -                            

-                  -                  -                    -                     -                            -                            

634                           634                            

2027 and later -                            

Never expire 10 468            12 260            14 033             10 937               9 684                        57 383                      

Total tax loss carried forward -                 10 468            12 260            14 033             10 937               17 264                      64 963                      

Set-off against deferred tax -                  -                  -                    -                     (8 649)                      (8 649)                       

Unrecognized deferred tax assets (3 679)             (10 149)          (5 352)              (2 417)                (2 150)                      (23 746)                     

Tax losses recognised -                 6 789              2 112              8 682                8 521                 6 465                        32 568                      

Amounts in NOK thousand Norway Netherlands Denmark Sweden UK Other Total

2024 -                  -                  -                    -                     1 126                        1 126                        

2025 and later -                  -                  -                    -                     3 212                        3 212                        

Never expire 14 345          10 095            12 260            15 549             11 242               6 937                        70 429                      

Total tax loss carried forward 14 345          10 095            12 260            15 549             11 242               11 275                      74 767                      

Set-off against deferred tax (14 345)         0 0 0 0 (14 345)                     

Unrecognized deferred tax assets (4 822)             (10 173)          -                   (5 768)                (5 659)                      (26 422)                     

Tax losses recognised -                 5 273              2 087              15 549             5 474                 5 616                        34 000                      

In 2021 the Group prepaid corporate tax of 4,4. ( 2020: 5,8)

In 2021 and 2020, selected ABAX subsidiaries have achieved its planned profitability; therefore, management continues to consider it probable that future taxable profits 
would be available against which the tax losses can be recovered for most of the entities. For these companies there are also deferred tax liabilities that more than offset the 
deferred tax asset, and the temporary differences related to the deferred tax will reverse before the tax losses carried forwards expire. There are some foreign subsidiaries 
within the group with tax losses carried forward that do not have offsetting deferred tax liabilities, and it is not possible to utilise the tax loss carried forward by group 
contributions. There is not convincing evidence for probable future taxable profit sufficient to fully utilise the tax loss carried  forward for these entities. 

2024

2025

2026

The table below reconciles the reported income tax expense to the expected income tax expense according to the Norwegian corporate income tax rate of 22% in 2021 and 
22% in 2020. It also discloses the main elements of the tax expense. Selected line items are commented below the table.

1) As most of the Group's activities are based in Norway, the effective tax rate reconciliation is based on the applicable tax rate in Norway

Tax losses carried forward in selected countries expire as follows as of 31 December 2020:

Tax losses carried forward in selected countries expire as follows as of 31 December 2021:

2022

2023
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Note 9 Property, plant and equipment
Owned Right of use Right of use Right of use

  Amounts in NOK thousand

Fixtures and
office

machinery
Land and 
buildings

Fixtures and 
office 

machinery Motor vehicles Total

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2020 18 058           123 792           33 339               19 115                     194 304                    

Business Combinations 1) 26 083           26 083                      

Additions 1) 33 339           18 715             13 710               7 421                        73 185                      

Disposals and balance changes (7 374)            2 888               (673)                   327                           (4 832)                       

Currency translation 244                 1 207               192                    223                           1 867                        

Balance as of 31 December 2020 70 350           146 603           46 567               27 086                     290 607                    

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance as of 1 January 2020 (7 448)            (25 098)            (19 709)              (12 711)                    (64 966)                     

Depreciation for the period (8 017)            (16 392)            (8 921)                (5 476)                      (38 807)                     

Disposals and balance changes -                  -                   -                     -                            -                            

Accumulated depreciations as at 31 December 2020 (15 465)          (41 490)            (28 630)              (18 187)                    (103 773)                  

Currency translation 70                   -                   -                     -                            70                             

Balance as of 31 December 2020 54 955            105 113           17 937               8 899                        186 903                    

Useful life 3 - 5 years 5 - 15 years 3 - 5 years 3 - 5 years

Depreciation plan Straight line Straight line Straight line Straight line

1) Including additions due to new leases in the period. See note 20 for details.

Owned

  Amounts in NOK thousand

Fixtures and
office

machinery
Land and 
buildings

Fixtures and 
office 

machinery Motor vehicles Total

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2021 70 350           146 603           46 567               27 086                     290 607                    

Correction ingoing balance 1 415              -2997 0 0 (1 582)                       

Additions 1) 61 808           13 193             1 764                 8 310                        85 075                      

Disposals and balance changes (22 539)          (1 124)              (17)                     (994)                         (24 674)                     

Currency translation (2 663)            (1 185)              (97)                     (147)                         (4 092)                       

Balance as of 31 December 2021 108 371         154 490           48 217               34 255                     345 334                    

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance as of 01.01.20 (15 465)          (41 490)            (28 630)              (18 187)                    (103 773)                  

Correction ingoing balance (1 398)            (1 398)                       

Depreciation for the period (22 370)          (21 265)            (6 677)                (6 183)                      (56 496)                     

Disposals and balance changes 22 615           -                   -                     -                            22 615                      

Accumulated depreciations as at 31 December 2021 (16 618)          (62 755)            (35 307)              (24 370)                    (139 052)                  

Currency translation 1 685              1 685                        

Balance as of 31 December 2021 93 438            91 734             12 910               9 884                        207 967                    

Useful life 3 - 5 years 5 - 15 years 3 - 5 years 3 - 5 years

Depreciation plan Straight line Straight line Straight line Straight line

1) Including additions due to new leases in the period. See note 20 for details.

Commitments

The Group has no commitments to fulfil contracts of which is not recorded in the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

Assets pledged as security

Right of use

See note 18 for information.
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Note 10 Intangible assets and goodwill

  Amounts in NOK thousand Brand name Goodwill

Development of 
telematic 
solutions Customer portfolio Total

Historical cost

Historical cost 18 820            453 410           815 109             1 045 361                 2 332 698                 

Business Combinations1) 56 512            633 443           22 703               119 603                    832 261                    

Additions 72 243               72 243                      

Currency translation -716                (11 437)            (358)                   6 066                        (6 445)                       

Balance as of 31 December 2020 74 615            1 075 416        909 697             1 171 030                 3 230 757                 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance as of 1 January 2020 -                  -                    (146 847)           (209 060)                  (355 907)                  

Amortisation for the period* (131 556)           (87 002)                    (218 559)                  

Currency translation (333)                 2                        (3 037)                      (3 368)                       

Accumulated depreciations as at 31 December 2020 -                  (333)                 (278 402)           (299 099)                  (577 834)                  

Balance as of 31 December 2020 74 615            1 075 083        631 295             871 931                    2 652 924                 

*Amortisation for the period (131 556)           (87 002)                    (218 559)                  

Government grants cost reductions 8 670                 8 670                        

Net amortisation in profit and loss (122 887)           (87 002)                    (209 889)                  

1) Final PPA adjustments done for the acquisition of Automile in 2020.

Useful life Indefinite Indefinite 3 - 7 years 15 years

Amortisation None None Straight line Straight line

  Amounts in NOK thousand Brand name Goodwill

Development of 
telematic 
solutions Customer portfolio Total

Historical cost

Balance as of 1 January 2021 74 615            1 075 416        909 697             1 171 030                 3 230 757                 

Business Combinations -                            

Additions 1) 85 778               14 551                     100 329                    

Currency translation -3 689             (31 595)            (1 394)                (10 689)                    (47 367)                     

Balance as of 31 December 2021 70 926            1 043 821        994 081             1 174 892                 3 283 719                 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance as of 1 January 2021 -                  -278 402            -299 099                   (577 501)                  

Amortisation for the period* (190 970)           (95 165)                    (286 134)                  

Currency translation 1 020                 3 787                        4 807                        

Accumulated depreciations as at 31 December 2021 -                  -                   (468 352)           (390 477)                  (858 828)                  

Balance as of 31 December 2021 70 926            1 043 821        525 729             784 415                    2 424 890                 

*Amortisation for the period (190 970)           (95 165)                    (286 134)                  

Government grants cost reductions 5 346                 5 346                        

Net amortisation in profit and loss (185 624)           (95 165)                    (280 788)                  

1) Additions in 2021 includ the acquisition of Helpten subscription base in Abax Finland Oy.

Useful life Indefinite Indefinite 3 - 7 years 10 -15 years

Amortisation None None Straight line Straight line

Changes in government grant:

Development of 
telematic solutions Total

Remaining grant acquired in business combination as at 01.01.20 17 872                     17 872                      
New government grants during the period 8 137                        8 137                        
Reduction of grant liability in the period recognised in profit or loss (8 728)                      -8 728                       
Net government grant liability as at 31 December 2020 17 281                     17 281                      

Development of 
telematic solutions Total

Remaining grant acquired in business combination as at 01.01.21 17 281                     17 281                      

New government grants during the period 9 005                        9 005                        

Reduction of grant liability in the period recognised in profit or loss (5 289)                      (5 289)                       

Net government grant liability as at 31 December 2021 20 997                     20 997                      

Progress and status on government grant projects are reported on a yearly basis.

Research and development costs
During 2021, NOK 100,3 million has been capitalised related to development activities. In addition, research and development cost of NOK 14,1 million were expensed 
during the year as the criteria for capitalisation is not met. During 2020, NOK 72,2 million was capitalised related to development activities. In addition, research and 
development cost of NOK 25,1 million were expensed during the year as the criteria for capitalisation was not met. 

Government grant liability
Abax Group receives government grant on certain R&D projects in Norway. The grants are initially classified as deferred income that is recognised in profit or loss on a 
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset as a reduction of amortisation expenses.

Amortisation
Goodwill and brand names have indefinite useful life, and so are not amortised. Other intangible assets with finite life are amortised over the period of the expected useful life 
as detailed above.
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Note 11 Impairment testing of goodwill and brandname

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

ABAX 1 114 746                 1 149 698                 

Total goodwill and brandname 1 114 746                 1 149 698                 

Impairment test ABAX

In percentage 2021 2020

Discount rate pre-tax 7,8 % 8,0 %

Discount rate post-tax 7,6 % 7,8 %

Average EBITDA growth rate 10,1 % 15,0 %

Terminal value growth rate 2,0 % 2,0 %

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

In percentage point 2021 2020

Decline in average EBITDA growth rate -14,7 % -10,1 %

Decline in average terminal value growth rate -10,1 % -5,5 %

Increase in discount rate post-tax 7,4 % 3,8 %

Note 12 Other non-current interest-bearing receivables

2021 2020

Deposits for rent and cars 4 220                        4 198                        

Other non-current receivables 510                           2 370                        

Total non-current interest-bearing receivables 4 730                        6 568                        

Note 13  Inventories

2021 2020

Finished goods (trip log units) 1) 26 613                      10 846                      

Total inventories 26 613                      10 846                      

Inventories expensed in the period 73 891                      52 184                      

Write-down of inventories from cost to net realisable value - -                            

1) Inventory 2020 changed due to revised Automile acquisition numbers.

Goodwill originates from the purchase of ABAX Holding AS (later merged with ABAX AS) in 2017 and the acquisition of RAM and Automile during 2020 (see note 31 for 
further information) and other minor acquisitions. For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill is monitored at the level of an operating segment, which for Abax represent 
the whole group. The impairment test is therefore performed for a group of CGUs. There is an ongoing integration process for the acquired companies, which also involves 
moving customer contracts between entities, and using the different brands in different markets. This will impact the future CGU structure of the group.

Management only monitors goodwill at the level of an operating segment. The entire group is considered to represent one operating segment, that consist of more than one 
CGU. Impairment testing is based on value-in-use calculations, determined by discounting the estimated future cash flows to be generated by the group of CGUs. The 
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs was determined to be higher than it's carrying amount per date of testing.

Management has made cash flow projections based on budget and strategic forecast for the periods 2022-2026. Beyond the explicit forecast period of five years, the cash 
flows are extrapolated using a constant growth rate.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management's assessment of future trends in the relevant industry, and have been based on historical data from 
both external and internal sources.

EBIT and EBITDA used in the value-in-use calculation is based on management’s assumptions on the expected revenue developments, gross margin and operating margin 
after allocation of operating expenses from shared units, taking into account management’s expectation of market size and market share development. Assumptions are 
based on historical experience as well as assessment of future market development and conditions. 

The cash flow projections included specific estimates for five years and a terminal value growth rate thereafter. The terminal growth rate was determined based on 
management's estimates of the long-term annual compound EBITDA growth rate of approx. 2 % inflation.

Discount rate used are post-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the group of CGUs, calculated as the weighted average cost of capital (WACC). Risk free rate of return 
(Rf) is set to 2%, in line with the terminal growth factor. This is a normalized ratio since the long-term rates in the markets now in 2020/2021 are lower than normal and not 
considered a sustainable level on a long-term basis

CAPEX is based on the assumptions that the groups R&D department will require approx. 65 MNOK each year for development of new products and features in addition to 
capitalized hardware cost and box swap cost.

The Groups identifies brand names as an identifiable intangible asset associated with prior acquisitions. The Group performs an analysis at each acquisition date of these 
brand names and has determined that there are no regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic, or other factors that limited the useful life of the brand name to the Group, 
as a result the Group determined that its existing brand names have an indefinite life and are not subject to impairment.

Impairment test of goodwill is performed on an annual basis or when there are indicators of impairment. No impairment loss were recognised during 2021, as the 
recoverable amounts are higher than the carrying amounts based on the value-in-use analysis.  

The group has performed sensitivity calculations to identify any reasonably possible change in key assumptions that could cause the carrying amount to exceed the 
recoverable amount.

The following changes in key assumptions will change the value-in-use to equal the carrying amount of goodwill, all else equal:

Amounts in NOK thousand

Amounts in NOK thousand
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Note 14  Trade and other receivables

2021 2020

Trade receivables 92 780                      61 385                      

Other current receivables 55 158                      54 016                      

Prepaid expenses 18 969                      16 902                      

Loans to employees1)
683                           598                            

VAT and sales related taxes 184                            

Total trade and other receivables 167 590                    133 084                    
1) Refer to Note 5 Employee benefit expenses for details on loan terms 

Credit and market risks, and impairment losses

Note 15  Other current assets and receivables

2021 2020

Contract assets1)
17 245                      54 216                      

Total other current receivables 17 245                      54 216                      
1) See note 4 Revenue and other income

Note 16  Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020

Cash at bank 390 979                    136 932                    

Restricted cash 6 510                        7 023                        

Total cash and cash equivalents -                 397 489                    143 955                    

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Note 17  Capital and reserves
Shareholder information

Share capital

The company has increased it's share capital in 2020. There is no increase in number of shares but the par value is increase from 0,01 to 0,03.
The company has no changes to it's share capital in 2021.

2021 2020

Share capital 42 959                      42 959                      
Par value 0,03                          0,03                           
Number of shares 1 431 968                 1 431 968                 
Paid in share capital 42 959                      42 959                      
Share premium 1 817 963                 1 817 963                 

Note 18  Loans and borrowings
Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Non-current liabilities

Loans from related parties1)
242                           -                            

Secured bank loans / Bond 985 820                    981 769                    

Other long-term debt 122                           215                            

Lease liabilities2)
95 448                      103 516                    

Total 1 081 633                 1 085 499                 

Current liabilities

Current portion of secured bank loans -                            -                            

Loans from related parties 1)
79 209                      79 274                      

Lease liabilities2)
24 800                      32 632                      

Accrued interest 1 753                        1 653                        

Total 105 762                    113 558                    

Terms and repayment schedule

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows:

Amounts in NOK thousand Currency
Nominal 

interest rate Year of maturity Face value Carrying amount

Nordic Bond NOK 6,61 % 2025 1 000 000                 983 422                    

Revolving Facility NOK 3,43 % 2025 50 000                      -                            

Total secured bank loans 1 050 000                 983 422                    

Loans from related parties NOK 4,00 % (n.a.) 79 274                      79 274                      

Lease liabilities 161 403                    136 147                    

Other long-term debt 215                            

Total interest-bearing liabilities 240 677                    215 636                    

Outstanding debt 1 290 677                 1 199 058                 

Less current portion (113 558)                  

Total 1 290 677                 1 085 499                 

Amounts in NOK thousand

Additional undrawn committed current bank revolving credit facilities amount to NOK 39 million, that together with cash and cash equivalents gives a total liquidity reserve of 
NOK 436,5 million as of December 31, 2021. See also note 18 Loans and borrowings.

Additional undrawn committed current bank revolving credit facilities amount to NOK 39 million, that together with cash and cash equivalents gives a total liquidity reserve of 
NOK 183 million as of December 31, 2020. See also note 18 Loans and borrowings.

Restricted cash relates to tax deductions from the employees.

ABAX MidCo AS is the parent entity of ABAX Group AS. The entity owns 100 % of the shares in ABAX Group AS

Amounts in NOK thousand

For information about the Group's exposure to credit and market risks and impairment losses for trade and other receivables refer to Note 22 Financial risk management. 

Amounts in NOK thousand

The Group has a cash pool owned by Abax group AS

ABAX Group AS has one class of shares, ordinary shares, with equal rights for all shares.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and are entitled to one vote per share at General Meetings. Total outstanding shares are 1 431 968 378 at 
par value NOK 0.03 per share. All issued shares are fully paid. 

1) See note 25 Related party transactions
2) See note 20 Leases

Information about the Group's exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk is included in Note 22.

2020

Amounts in NOK thousand
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Amounts in NOK thousand Currency
Nominal 

interest rate Year of maturity Face value Carrying amount

Nordic Bond NOK 7,01 % 2025 1 000 000                 987 573                    

Revolving Facility NOK 4,11 % 2025 50 000                      -                            

Total secured bank loans 1 050 000                 987 573                    

Loans from related parties NOK 4,00 % (n.a.) 79 209                      79 209                      

Lease liabilities 149 112                    120 248                    

Other  debt 364                            

Total interest-bearing liabilities 228 321                    199 822                    

Outstanding debt 1 278 321                 1 187 395                 

Less current portion (105 762)                  

Total 1 278 321                 1 081 633                 

Bank debt 

Loan covenants

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Amounts in NOK thousand Note Bond
Other long-
term loans Lease liabilities

Other short-term 
loans Total

Balance as of 01.01.20 544 746         77 580             120 903             743 230                    

Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from loans from group companies -                   -                            

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 1 066 340      1 066 340                 

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings (20 257)          (20 257)                     

Repayment of borrowings (625 328)        300                  (625 028)                  

Payment of lease liabilities 20 (28 927)              (28 927)                     

Total changes from financing cash flows 420 756         300                  (28 927)              -                            392 128                    

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 028              1 775                 2 803                        

Liability-related

Operational financing from Group companies 1 394               1 394                        

New lease liabilities 20 39 846               39 846                      

Change in lease liabilities 2 551                 2 551                        

Amortisation 18 164           18 164                      

Interest expense 48 760           6 604                 55 364                      

Interest paid (50 032)          (6 604)                (56 636)                     

Total liability-related other changes 17 920           1 394               44 172               -                            63 486                      

Total equity-related other changes -                  -                   -                     -                            -                            

Balance as of 31 December 2020 983 422         79 274             136 147             -                            1 198 844                 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Amounts in NOK thousand Note Bond
Other long-
term loans Lease liabilities

Other short-term 
loans Total

Balance as of 01.01.21 983 422         79 274             136 147             -                            1 198 844                 

Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from issue of share capital -                            

Proceeds from loans and borrowings -                            

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings -                            

Repayment of borrowings -                            

Payment of lease liabilities 20 (32 758)              (32 758)                     

Total changes from financing cash flows -                  -                    -32 758              -                            -32 758                     

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates (1 457)                (1 457)                       

Liability-related

Proceeds from issue of share capital

Business combination

Operational financing from Group companies (3 376)              (3 376)                       

New lease liabilities 20 686               20 686                      

Change in lease liabilities (2 370)                (2 370)                       

Amortisation 4 051              4 051                        

Interest expense 66 247           3 311               6 292                 75 850                      

Interest paid (66 147)          (6 292)                (72 439)                     

Total liability-related other changes 4 151              (65)                   16 859               -                            20 945                      

Total equity-related other changes -                  -                   -                     -                            -                            

Balance as of 31 December 2021 987 573         79 209             120 248             -                            1 187 031                 

2021

Net interest bearing debt include the senior secured floating rate bond of 1 billion NOK and additionally a super senior RCF facility provided by SEB. 

As of 31 December 2021 the Group has 1 billion NOK in a senior secured bond and additionally 50 MNOK of RCF facilities of which 11 MNOK have been committed as a 
security of office facilities. The bonds are jointly and severally guaranteed by material companies within the Group

The Group has not any applicable covenants as per 31.12.2021. Covenants for the RCF facilities will only imply when more than 40% of the facilities have been utilized. 
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Note 19  Trade and other payables

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Trade payables 50 958                     36 870                      

Total trade payables 50 958                      36 870                      

Public duties payables 35 242                     32 624                      

Payables to Bro & Tunnel 1) 27 956                     37 140                      

Other current payables including holiday pay 95 941                     104 070                    

Total trade and other payables 210 097                   210 704                    

1) Bro & Tunnel is our partner in delivering our Toll Road Admin product.

Note 20  Leases

The Group leases various assets including land and building, vehicles, machinery and IT equipment. Information about leases for which the
group is a lessee is presented below. Note 9 specifies information about the assets recognised in the statement of financial position.

Right-of-use assets 

Amounts in NOK thousand Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

Balance as of 1 January 2020 98 694             6 404                 13 630                     118 728                    

Additions to right-of-use assets during the financial year 18 715             7 421                 13 710                     39 846                      

Depreciation charge for the year (16 392)            (5 476)                (8 921)                      (30 790)                     

Disposals/lease contracts cancelled 2 888               327                    (673)                         2 542                        

Currency translations 1 207               223                    192                           1 623                        

Balance at 31 December 2020 105 113           8 899                 17 937                     131 949                    

Lease liabilities 

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows

Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

2021 25 893             5 950                 7 195                        39 038                      

2022 16 675             2 722                 6 132                        25 530                      

2023 16 233             1 667                 4 159                        22 059                      

2024 15 905             392                    3 010                        19 307                      

2025 13 333             258                    57                             13 647                      

2026-------> 41 822             41 822                      

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 129 861           10 989               20 553                     161 403                    

Balance at 31 December 2020 108 720           9 123                 18 305                     136 147                    

Current 25 893             5 950                 7 195                        39 038                      

Non-current 82 827             3 173                 11 110                     97 109                      

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 01.01.20 - 31.12.20

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 392             5 476                 8 921                        30 790                      

Interest on lease liabilities 5 262               369                    973                           6 604                        

Total recognised in profit or loss 21 654             5 846                 9 894                        37 394                      

Total cash outflow related to leases during the financial statement period 01.01.20 - 31.12.20

Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

Cash outflow 19 653             5 925                 9 876                        35 454                      

Total 19 653             5 925                 9 876                        35 454                      

Right-of-use assets 

Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

Balance as of 1 January 2021 105 113           8 899                 17 937                     131 949                    

Changes to ingoing balance (2 997)              -                     -                            (2 997)                       

Additions to right-of-use assets during the financial year 13 193             8 310                 1 764                        23 267                      

Depreciation charge for the year (21 265)            (6 183)                (6 677)                      (34 125)                     

Disposals/lease contracts cancelled (1 124)              (994)                   (17)                            (2 135)                       

Currency translations (1 185)              (147)                   (97)                            (1 430)                       

Balance at 31 December 2021 91 734             9 884                 12 910                     114 528                    

Lease liabilities 

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows

Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

2022 19 755             4 993                 6 647                        31 396                      

2023 19 840             3 987                 4 661                        28 489                      

2024 18 227             2 000                 3 285                        23 512                      

2025 15 379             405                    57                             15 841                      

2026 13 005             13 005                      

2027-------> 36 869             36 869                      

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 123 076           11 386               14 650                     149 112                    

Balance at 31 December 2021 96 749             9 787                 13 712                     120 248                    

Current 19 755             4 993                 6 647                        31 396                      

Non-current 76 993             4 794                 7 065                        88 853                      

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 01.01.21 - 31.12.21

Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 21 265             6 183                 6 677                        34 125                      

Interest on lease liabilities 5 175               400                    717                           6 292                        

Total recognised in profit or loss 26 441             6 583                 7 394                        40 418                      

Total cash outflow related to leases during the financial statement period 01.01.21 - 31.12.21

Property Vehicles IT and machinery Total

Cash outflow 25 222             6 492                 7 389                        39 103                      

Total 25 222             6 492                 7 389                        39 103                      

The leases represents future cash outflows. These cash flows are exposed to financial risk from credit risk, liquidity risk, interest risk and market risk. The Groups exposure 
is presented in note 22, and related capital management in note 21.
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Note 21  Capital management

Note 22  Financial risk management and exposures

Credit risk

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables including contract assets 4 280                        5 505                        

Total 4 280                        5 505                        

Trade receivables and contract assets

Carrying amount Carrying amount

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Norway 34 624                      32 563                      

Sweden 41 996                      42 048                      

UK 10 517                      16 330                      

Other regions 22 888                      24 661                      

Total 110 025                    115 601                    

31 December 2020

Not credit- Credit-

Amounts in NOK thousand impaired Impaired Total

- Four or more years' trading history with the Group* 20 938               20 938                      

- Less than four year's trading history with the Group* 46 715               21 441                     68 155                      

- Higher risk -                     -                            -                            

Total loss carrying amount 67 652               21 441                      89 093                      

Loss allowance 6 268                 21 441                     27 708                      

Total 61 385               -                            61 385                      

*excluding 'higher risk'

31 December 2021

Not credit- Credit-

Amounts in NOK thousand impaired Impaired Total

- Four or more years' trading history with the Group* 48 461               48 461                      

- Less than four year's trading history with the Group* 48 840               9 606                        58 446                      

- Higher risk -                            

Total loss carrying amount 97 301               9 606                        106 907                    

Loss allowance 4 521                 9 606                        14 127                      

Total 92 780               -                            92 780                      

*excluding 'higher risk'

Expected credit loss assessment for customers

Weighted- Gross Net

31 December 2020 average carrying Loss carrying Credit-

Amounts in NOK thousand loss rate amount allowance amount impaired

Current (not past due) 1,0 % 36 347             (507)                   35 840                     NO

1-90 days past due 2,7 % 23 308             (2 326)                20 982                     NO

91-180 days past due 50,0 % 5 492               (3 435)                2 057                        NO

181-270 days past due 100,0 % 5 009               (4 732)                277                           YES

271-360 days past due 100,0 % 2 412               (2 305)                107                           YES

More than 361 days past due 100,0 % 16 525             (14 404)              2 122                        YES

Total 89 093             (27 708)              61 385                      

Weighted- Gross Net

31 December 2021 average carrying Loss carrying Credit-

Amounts in NOK thousand loss rate amount allowance amount impaired

Current (not past due) 1,0 % 65 512             (710)                   64 802                     NO

1-90 days past due 2,7 % 23 698             (1 547)                22 151                     NO

91-180 days past due 25,0 % 3 459               (985)                   2 473                        NO

181-270 days past due 50,0 % 2 774               (1 278)                1 496                        NO

More than 271 days past due 100,0 % 11 464             (9 606)                1 857                        YES

Total 106 907           (14 127)              92 780                      

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instruments fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from 
the Group's receivables from customers and contract assets.

The carrying amount of financial assets and contract assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also considers the factors that may 
influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which customers operate. 

The Group monitors closely the development in the age distributed balance of the trade receivables, in order to cater for a as healthy accounts receivable as possible. All 
invoicing are prepayments for monthly fees for the next year or quarter and no credit checks being executed in advance of a new sale. 

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets by geographic region was as follows:

ABAX Group only sells to end-user customers. The entire account receivables portfolio has end-user counterparties. 

Abax Group AS, monitors constantly liquidity/credit and market risk, in order to ensure the group is maximising cash generation, and minimising costs, through a number of 
initiatives and polices, within the relevant risk elements of capital management.

Through the effective management of capital, Abax Group AS ensures that it has sufficient funding to cover existing and on-going obligations, whilst building additional 
reserves of capital to fuel future undertakings, that will grow the business for the benefit of all shareholders.

Ratios used in monitoring of capital / covenants

ABAX Group AS has no applicable covenant obligations as per 31.12.2021. The covenants related to the RCF facilities will first be applicable if we utilize more than 40% of 
the total facilities. The actual covenant levels are still monitored on a monthly basis as part of our fixed management reporting. In addition, we send SEB a condensed 
version of the management report also on a monthly basis. And lastly, we monitor cash inflow development for the Group and per subsidiary on a daily basis. 

Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past 2 years. These rates are multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic conditions 
during the period over which the historic data has been collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

ABAX Group has a variety of small customers, and not one single customer accounting for more than 1% of trade receivables and contract assets.

A summary of the Group's exposure to credit risk for trade receivables is as follows:

The Group considers the credit risk on contract assets, loans to employees and other receivables to be immaterial.

The Group uses a loss allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivables from customers, which comprise a very large number of small balances. 

Loss rates are calculated using a 'roll rate' method based on the probability of a receivable processing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are 
calculated separately for exposures in different segments based on the following common credit risk characteristics - geographic region, age of customer relationship and 
credit risk rates. Credit risk rates are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the risk of default and are aligned to external credit rating 
definitions. 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets from customers as at 31 December 2021. 
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Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect to trade receivables and contract assets

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Balance at 01.01 27 708                     6 488                        

Balance acquired through purchase transaction -                            31 236                      

Amounts written off (17 861)                    (15 522)                     

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 4 280                        5 505                        

Balance at 31 December 14 127                     27 708                      

Liquidity risk

31 December 2020 Book Total 2 months 2-12 More than

Amounts in NOK thousand value cash flow  1)
or less months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years

Borrowings 983 422        1 308 664       -                  66 352             74 258               1 168 053                -                            

Leasing 136 147        161 403          6 506              32 532             25 530               55 013                     41 822                      

Loans from group companies 79 274          79 274            377                 1 887               4 690                 5 073                        67 246                      

Net derivative financial instruments -                -                  -                   -                     

Trade and other payables 206 584        206 584          43 512           163 071           -                            

Total 1 405 427     1 755 925       50 396           263 843           104 478             1 228 140                109 068                    
1) Nominal currency value including interest

31 December 2021 Book Total 2 months 2-12 More than

Amounts in NOK thousand value cash flow  1)
or less months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years

Borrowings 987 573        1 242 312       -                  74 258             75 440               1 092 613                -                            

Leasing 120 248        149 890          6 438              25 751             51 986               41 503                     24 212                      

Loans from group companies 79 209          79 209            377                 1 886               4 686                 5 069                        67 191                      

Trade and other payables 210 097        210 097          56 367           153 730           -                            

Total 1 397 128     1 681 507       63 182           255 625           132 112             1 139 185                91 403                      
1) Nominal currency value including interest

Market risk

Currency risk - transactions in foreign currency

The summary quantitative data about the Group's exposure to currency risk as reported to the management of the Group is as follows:

31 December 2020

Amounts in NOK thousand GBP SEK DKK EUR Other Total

Trade receivables 6 082              24 623           3 267               8 789                 942                           43 703                      

Trade payables (240)                (3 680)            (141)                 (3 701)                (2 983)                      (10 745)                     

Net statement of financial position exposure 5 843              20 943           3 126               5 088                 (2 041)                      32 957                      

Next six months' forecasted sales 24 021            154 119         10 130             53 505               9 930                        251 706                    

Next six months' forecasted purchases (11 843)           (36 861)          (3 871)              (26 967)              (14 431)                    (93 973)                     

Net forecast transaction exposure 12 178            117 258         6 259               26 538               (4 501)                      157 733                    

Net exposure 18 020            138 201         9 385               31 626               (6 542)                      190 689                    

31 December 2021

Amounts in NOK thousand GBP SEK DKK EUR Other Total

Trade receivables 9 265              33 905           3 031               15 346               2 406                        63 954                      

Trade payables (250)                (5 518)            (83)                   (3 869)                (1 804)                      (11 524)                     

Net statement of financial position exposure 9 015              28 387           2 948               11 477               602                           52 429                      

Next six months' forecasted sales 31 719            146 565         8 856               61 622               133 444                   382 207                    

Next six months' forecasted purchases (18 714)           (86 474)          (5 225)              (36 357)              (207 582)                  (354 352)                  

Net forecast transaction exposure 13 005            60 092           3 631               25 265               (74 138)                    27 855                      

Net exposure 22 020            88 478           6 579               36 742               (73 536)                    80 284                      

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and contract assets during the year was as follows:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities. Abax Group AS' policy and approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stress conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the reputation of Abax AS. Abax Group AS, utilises a 3 months roling cashflow forecast, and trading result analysis to 
constantly monitor the liquidity for the group.

As at 31 December 2021 the group has a cash bank balance of NOK 398 million. In addition, senior secured RCF facilities amount to NOK 50 million of which NOK 39 
million is undrawn (11 MNOK committed as a guarantee for office location, however the Group has not received the cash, it's only a guarantee)

The table below analyses the group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the end of reporting period to the contractual maturity date. Derivative financial liabilities are included in the analysis if their contractual maturities are essential for 
an understanding of the timing of the cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

ABAX Group AS' cash flows from operating activities deriving from sales are in various currencies, while operating expenses, capital expenditures and inventory cost are 
mainly in NOK. The Group does not hedge its exposure to currency risk, but monitors the fluctuations carefully and takes measures as necessary.
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Sensitivity analysis

Equity Equity

increase increase

Profit (loss) (decrease) Profit (loss) (decrease)

Amounts in NOK thousand before tax (before tax) before tax (before tax)

SEK (15 % weakening of NOK) 23 784             133 179             20 275                     141 614                    

DKK (15 % weakening of NOK) 578                  (10 587)              2 033                        (3 100)                       

EUR (15 % weakening of NOK) 2 120               (12 982)              2 571                        (14 071)                     

GBP (15 % weakening of NOK) 3 055               (8 181)                1 405                        (8 216)                       

Interest risk

Exposure to interest rate risk

31 December 2020 Floating

Amounts in NOK thousand rate Fixed rate Total

Interest-bearing liabilities 1 000 000          1 000 000                 

Net exposure 1 000 000          -                            1 000 000                 

31 December 2021 Floating

Amounts in NOK thousand rate Fixed rate Total

Interest-bearing liabilities 1 000 000          -                            1 000 000                 

Net exposure 1 000 000          -                            1 000 000                 

Sensitivity analysis

Amounts in NOK thousand 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 3 975                        1 441                        

Borrowings (10 000)                    (10 000)                     

Cash flow sensitivity (6 025)                      (8 559)                       

SEB Ref no Trade date Start date Maturity date CCY Principal am. Rate Code Rate Net Present value

1389436/47516552OS 01.12.2020 23.12.2020 23.12.2023 NOK 750 000 000    3MNOKNI 0,46000 1 169 080                 

1389436/47516552OS 01.12.2020 23.12.2020 23.12.2023 NOK -750 000 000   NOKFX 0,57900 -                            

SEB Ref no Trade date Start date Maturity date CCY Principal am. Rate Code Rate Net Present value

1389436/47516552OS 01.12.2020 23.12.2020 23.12.2023 NOK 750 000 000    3MNOKNI 0,86000 13 983 612               

1389436/47516552OS 01.12.2020 23.12.2020 23.12.2023 NOK -750 000 000   NOKFX 0,57900 -                            

Price risk

Note 23  Financial instruments
Carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position, presented together with fair value per category

31 December 2020

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes

 Financial 
instruments 
at amortised 

cost 

 Financial 
instruments 

at
FVTPL 

 Financial 
assets at

FVOCI 

 Other financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Level in fair value 
hierarchy

Non-current assets

Other non-current receivables 12 6 568              6 568                        

Other investments, including derivatives -                            

Current assets

Trade receivables 14 61 385            61 385                     

Other receivables 14 54 614            54 614                     

Contract assets 4 -                  -                            

Cash and cash equivalents 16 143 955          143 955                   

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 18 1 067 054          1 067 054                

Loans from group companies 18 -                     -                            

Fair value interest rate swap 1 086              1 086                        Level 2

Other long term liabilities 215                    215                           

Current liabilities

Trade payables 19 36 870               36 870                     

Tax payables 8 -                     -                            

Public duties payable 19 -                     -                            

Loans from group companies 18 79 274               79 274                     

Other current liabilities 20 941           115 762             136 703                   Level 3

Current portion of long-term debt 18 -                     -                            

Total 266 521          22 027            -                    1 299 174          1 587 724                 

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings from external financial institutions (Senior secured bond issue) and financing from parent entities. The Group's 
liabilities are mainly denominated in NOK. The Group's interest rate is all variable (NIBOR+margin according to the Nordic Bond agreement). The Group uses interest rate 
derivatives, primariliy interest rate swap, to manage the interest rate risk on the long-term debt portfolio. 

The interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management of the Group is as follows:

The following interest rate risk sensitivity has been calculated assuming a change of 1,0 percentage points as a reasonably possible changes in the NIBOR interest rates as 
of the end of 2021. 

The Group has entered into an interest swap agreement with its debt counterparty for part of the outstanding debt balance. The derivative is not designated as a hedging 
instrument. 

ABAX Group's products are sold on long-term fixed price contracts, normally with a maturity of 36 months. The group's exposure to price risk is low, and prices follow 
general consumer price growth in the different countries which the group operates. Cost of goods and services are expected to fluctuate in the same matter as sales prices. 

The table below lists the group’s financial instruments, both assets and liabilities. Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified by the levels in the fair value 
hierarchy. All other financial instruments are classified by the main group of instruments as defined in IFRS 9. It does not include fair value information for financial assets 
and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value. For financial instruments measured at fair value, the 
levels in the fair value hierarchy are as shown below.

Overview incl fair value (FV) of currency and interest swaps as of December 31 2020:

A reasonably possible weakening (strenghtening) of SEK, DKK, EUR or GBP against NOK at 31 December would have affected the measurement of financial instruments 
denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. 

2021 2020

A 15 percent strengthening of the NOK against the above currencies as of December 31 would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above amounts, on the basis 
that all other variables remain constant. The sensitivity analysis does not include effects on the consolidated result and equity from changed exchange rates used for 
consolidation of foreign subsidiaries.

Overview incl fair value (FV) of currency and interest swaps as of December 31 2021:
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31 December 2021

Amounts in NOK thousand Notes

 Financial 
instruments 
at amortised 

cost 

 Financial 
instruments 

at
FVTPL 

 Financial 
assets at

FVOCI 

 Other financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

Level in fair value 
hierarchy

Non-current assets

Other non-current receivables 12 4 730              4 730                        

Other investments, including derivatives -                            

Fair value interest rate swap 13 984           13 984                     Level 2

Current assets

Trade receivables 14 92 780            92 780                     

Other receivables 14 55 841            55 841                     

Contract assets 4 -                  -                            

Cash and cash equivalents 16 397 489          397 489                   

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 18 1 067 089          1 067 089                

Loans from group companies 18 -                     -                            

Fair value interest rate swap -                            

Other long term liabilities 364                    364                           

Current liabilities

Trade payables 19 50 958               50 958                     

Tax payables 8 -                     -                            

Public duties payable 19 -                     -                            

Loans from group companies 18 79 209               79 209                     

Other current liabilities 7991 123 897             131 888                   Level 3

Current portion of long-term debt 18 -                     -                            

Total 550 841          21 975            -                    1 321 517          1 894 333                 

Level 1
Fair values are based on prices quoted in an active market for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Level 3

Ingoing balance FVTPL 20941
(10 514)           

(2 183)             
(253)                

Outgoing balance FVTPL 7 991              

Note 24  Group companies

2021 2020

Company  Location  Country  Ownership  %  Ownership % 

ABAX AS Larvik Norway 100 100

ABAX Performance AS Larvik Norway 100 100

ABAX Technology AS Larvik Norway 100 100

ABAX Sweden AB Västeras Sweden 100 100

ABAX Danmark A/S Copenhagen Denmark 100 100

Fleetfinder ApS Copenhagen Denmark 100 100

ABAX Finland OY Helsinki Finland 100 100

ABAX Nederland BV Amsterdam Netherlands 100 100

ABAX UK Ltd Petersborough United Kingdom 100 100

ABAX China Co., Ltd Nantong China 100 100

ABAX Poland sp. Z.o.o Gdynia Poland 100 100

ABAX Deutschland GmbH Berlin Germany 100 100
Automile Holding AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100
Automile AB Stockholm Sweden 100 100
Automile AS Oslo Norway 100 100
Automile Inc Utah US 100 100
RAM Track & Trace (Netherlands) B.V Utrecht Netherlands 100 100
RAM Mobile Data (Belgium) BVBA Diegem Belgium 100 100

Note 25  Related party transactions

ABAX Group AS is owned by ABAX Midco AS: Ultimate controlling party is Triplog Holdings Ltd.

Related party transactions

Short term debt to related parties

2021 2020

ABAX Invest AS -                            -                            

ABAX MidCo AS 79 209                     79 265                      

Balance at 31 December 79 209                     79 265                      

Long term debt to related parties

2021 2020

ABAX Invest AS 242                           -                            
Balance at 31 December 242                           -                            

Transactions with related parties

Related party Shareholding

Triplog Holdings Ltd Owns indirectly 80,24 % of shares in ABAX Group AS

ABAX Invest AS Ultimate norwegian parent company

Investcorp Manager of investment in ABAX Group AS on behalf of its owners in which no person or institutions

holds more than 25%

Transactions with related parties

- Monitoring fees from Investcorp of NOK 2,5 million  invoiced through Triplog Holdings Ltd in 2021.

- Monitoring fees from Investcorp of NOK 2,5 million  invoiced through Triplog Holdings Ltd in 2020.

Amounts in NOK thousand

The Group has carried out several different transactions with related parties. All transactions are carried out as part of normal business operations and according to the arm's 
length principle. The most significant transactions carried out are as follows:

Fair values are based on price inputs other than quoted prices derived from observable market transactions in an active market for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 includes interest derivatives which are computed as the sum of the value of a fixed leg and the value of a floating leg. The fixed leg is computed as a sum of cash 
flows, where each cash flow is computed as the notional x fixed rate x length of the period (in year) x discounting factor. The floating leg is computed as a sum of cash flows, 
where each cash flow is computed as the notional  x the projected rate x length of the period (in year) x discounting factor. The discount factors and projected rate are 
computed from the interest rate curve. The notional is scaled according to the amortizing structure of the deal.

Fair values are based on unobservable inputs, mainly based on internal assumptions used in the absence of quoted prices from an active market or other observable price 
inputs.

This note gives an overview of entities that are subsidiaries of ABAX Group AS. The Group holds all shares in all subsidiaries. If not stated otherwise, ownership equals the 
percentage of voting rights.

Parent and ultimate controlling party

Amounts in NOK thousand

This years payment
Adjustment of the estimate
Unrealized currency effects
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Note 26 Gains / Losses from divestments
There is no divestments in 2021.

Note 27 Subsequent events

Note 28 Covid-19
During 2021 we have seen a slow return to stability across our core Nordic markets and increasing business activity in markets such as the UK.
Abax continues to support its customers with connectivity of assets to their businesses and increasing their ROI in these uncertain times.

The Abax leadership team continues to monitor the development of the COVID 19 pandemic across the Group and will take adequate actions
if required.

Note 29 Segment reporting

Note 30 Business Combinations

Note 31 Proforma numbers

Alternative Performance Measures

Management has presented the performance measure adjusted EBITDA because it monitors this performance measure
at a consolidated level and it believes that this measure is relevant to an understanding of the Group’s financial
performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by adjusting profit from continuing operations to exclude the impact of
taxation, net finance costs, depreciation, gains and losses from divestments, amortisation related to goodwill, 
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and the Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined performance measure in IFRS. 
The Group’s definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable with similarly titled performance measures
 and disclosures by other entities.

Other non GAAP measures used to present the numbers are EBIT and CAPEX. EBIT is earnings before interest and tax.
CAPEX is capital expenditures used to acquire, upgrade ands maintain physical assets such as property, plants, technology and equipment.

2021 2020

Loss for the period 159 496             (142 300)                  

Income tax expense (34 588)              (38 835)                    
Loss before tax 124 908             (181 135)                  

Adjustments for:

– Net finance costs 69 073               65 767                     

– Depreciation 56 496               38 807                     

– Amortisation 280 788             209 889                   
Adjusted EBITDA 531 265             133 328                    

Amounts in NOK thousand

The Group recognizes only a single segment in the accordance with the definition of operating segment in IFRS 8. The starting point for identifying operating segments on 
whcih separate information can be provided are the internal reports to and monitoring by the group management. The group management monitors operating income for the 
entire business as one operating segment.

 Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (adjusted EBITDA)

The Company performed a review of events subsequent to the balance sheet date through the date the financial statements were issued and determined that there were no 
such events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.

Automile Group
The purchase price allocation for Automile was finalized during 2021. Adjustments are made in the 2020 comparables. The changes 
in net identifiable assets acquired (Inventory and other fixed assets) of 19.662 mnok increased the goodwill correspondingly. No
other changes were made, for more information and details see the annual accounts for 2020.

Abax Group has not acquired companies in 2021, however when comparing 2021 financials towards 2020, it's relevant to still 
show the 2020 Pro-forma calculations. Pro-forma 2020 financials shows the profit or loss of the combined entity for the 
current reporting period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been 
as of the beginning of the annual reporting period. Additionally, the two acquisitions during 2020, RAM and Automile have 
been shown with pro-forma 12 months financials

Amounts in NOK thousand 

Abax Group (financials from 
date of acquisition)

2020 RAM pre-acquisition 
(1.1.20-31.7.20)

2020 Automile pre-
acquisition (1.1.20-

19.10.20)

Pro-Forma 
Financials Abax 
Group (1.1.20-

31.12.20)

REVENUE 641 555                                26 593                                     93 649                                761 796                 
OPERATING PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) 193 981                                4 120                                       5 422                                  203 523                 
PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) BEFORE TAX 124 908                                4 015                                       4 795                                  133 718                 
PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) FOR THE PERIOD 159 496                                2 515                                       4 680                                  166 692                 

Amounts in NOK thousand 
2020 RAM pre-acquisition 

(1.1.20-31.7.20)
2020 RAM post-acquisition 

(1.8.20-31.12.20)
2020 RAM Pro-Forma Full 

year (1.1.20-31.12.20)

REVENUE 26 593                                  34 519                                     61 112                                
OPERATING PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) 4 120                                    1 290                                       5 410                                  
PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) BEFORE TAX 4 015                                    1 147                                       5 162                                  
PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) FOR THE PERIOD 2 515                                    713                                          3 228                                  

Amounts in NOK thousand 

2020 Automile pre-
acquisition (1.1.20-19.10.20)

2020 Automile post-acquisition 
(20.10.20-31.12.20)

2020 Automile Pro-Forma 
Full year (1.1.20-31.12.20)

REVENUE 93 649                                  99 632                                     193 280                              
OPERATING PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) 5 422                                    2 947                                       8 369                                  
PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) BEFORE TAX 4 795                                    3 232                                       8 027                                  
PROFIT (+) LOSS (-) FOR THE PERIOD 4 680                                    2 694                                       7 374                                  
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